**RECEIVED**

**Feb 28 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Lee County

Honorable Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

---

JOHNNY HAGGINS,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000176

---

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

---

JESSICA M. SAXON  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether the PCR court erred in dismissing Petitioner's duly raised constitutional challenges to the validity of his convictions and sentences where Petitioner was tried *in absentia* and without counsel in violation of numerous federal and state constitutional rights and where the PCR Act plainly allows a collateral attack upon a conviction or sentence obtained in violation of the Constitution of the United States or the Constitution or laws of this State?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the March 2018 term of the Lee County grand jury, Petitioner was indicted for one count of burglary second degree, one count of domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature, one count of assault and battery first degree, and one count of conspiracy. App. 94-95. The charges arose from an alleged assault of Petitioner's wife,<sup>1</sup> Ashleigh Haggins (Haggins), which occurred on August 29, 2017. App. 54, l. 24-App. 25, l. 25.

Haggins alleged that the pair had an initial argument on August 27 and then a disagreement on Facebook on August 29. A few hours after their disagreement on Facebook, Haggins stated that Petitioner and his then girlfriend, Cody Weaver, kicked in the front door of her home. App. 56, l. 25-App. 59, l. 20. According to Haggins, after kicking in the door Petitioner charged at her while yelling, knocked her cellphone from her hand, and began to hit and kick her. App. 60, l. 1-App. 61, l. 19. Haggins' son was home at the time of the incident. App. 64, ll. 8-9.

On June 4, 2018, the State, represented by Paul M. Fata, called the case to trial before the Honorable Kristi F. Curtis and a jury. Petitioner was represented by Kevin Etheridge. App. 1. After calling the case, Solicitor Fata informed the trial court that Petitioner was not present, that the State had noticed him to be present for trial through Counsel Etheridge, and that the State intended to move forward in Petitioner's absence. App. 3, l. 1-App. 4, l. 14. Counsel Etheridge argued that based on State v. Wrapp, 421 S.C. 531, 808 S.E.2d 821 (Ct. App. 2017), Petitioner had not received notice of the trial date or the fact that he could be tried *in absentia* should he fail to appear because Counsel Etheridge had not had contact with Petitioner despite numerous

---

<sup>1</sup> Petitioner and Haggins were married on December 27, 2010. They separated two days after the wedding. Although they lived separately, the pair did not divorce. Petitioner and Haggins also have a seven-year-old daughter in common. App. 55, ll. 2-24.

efforts to find him. Counsel Etheridge stated that Petitioner had been sent two letters that were returned to his office, that Petitioner's phone number had been disconnected, and that he had tried to contact members of Petitioner's family to no avail. Counsel Etheridge requested a continuance of the matter. App. 4, l. 17-App. 6, l. 12.

The State argued that it could only notice Petitioner through his attorney, and because it had served Counsel Etheridge with notice, it had fulfilled its duty. App. 6, ll. 15-18. Counsel Etheridge agreed that the State noticed him, but he confirmed to the court that despite numerous attempts he was unable to notice Petitioner of the trial date and the potential to be tried *in absentia*. App. 6, l. 19-App. 7, l. 22. After confirming that Counsel Etheridge had not had any contact with Petitioner in quite some time, the trial court granted a continuance in the case until the following term of court and issued a bench warrant for Petitioner. App. 10, l. 20-App.14, l. 18.

On July 10, 2018, the State, represented by Paul Fata, called the burglary second degree and domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature charges to trial before the Honorable George M. McFaddin, Jr., and a jury. App. 16. The State asserted that it had placed on the record at the June 4, 2018, hearing that Petitioner would be tried the following term of court and that if he did not appear he would be tried in his absence. The State also emailed Counsel Etheridge after the June 4 hearing to place in writing that Petitioner's case would be first up during the July term of court and that Petitioner would be tried in his absence if he failed to appear. App. 18, l. 11-App. 19, l. 7.

Counsel Etheridge made a motion to be relieved as counsel for Petitioner. Counsel Etheridge stated that Petitioner had failed to maintain any contact with him or his office and that he only met with Petitioner once in September of 2017. Counsel Etheridge further stated that he

had tried to reach Petitioner via telephone, mail, and through family members but had not been successful. He further informed the court that Petitioner had failed to meet his payment obligations. App. 19, ll. 9-21. The court confirmed that Petitioner was a paying client, that the letters sent to Petitioner were “returned to sender” and that no forwarding address had been provided to Counsel Etheridge. When questioned by the court, Counsel Etheridge stated that he had not appeared at any bond or preliminary hearing with or for Petitioner. App. 20, ll. 1-25.

The court found that Petitioner knew there was a charge against him because he had sought out Counsel Etheridge to represent him, that he had a duty to maintain contact with Counsel Etheridge, that there was no “hard core attorney-client” relationship, and that the attorney-client relationship only existed on paper. The court then proceeded to relieve Counsel Etheridge and inform the State that it would proceed with the trial of Petitioner. App. 21, ll. 2-20. After selecting a jury, the State addressed the notice it claimed to have provided to Petitioner.

The State summarized the prior court hearing during which Judge Curtis continued the case. The State maintained that Petitioner was noticed on the record that he would be tried during the July term of court and that if he failed to appear the case would proceed in his absence. Counsel Etheridge “acknowledged receiving” the notice, and the State argued therefore that Petitioner had received proper notice. App. 29, l. 11-App. 30, l. 16. The State next called the bailiff for Lee County Court of General Sessions, Roosevelt Stuckey, to testify that he had called Petitioner’s name three times “from the crier’s porch” and had not received any responses. App. 31, ll. 6-24. The court ruled that the State’s notice requirements had been satisfied and the case proceeded forward. App. 32, ll. 2-4.

The trial of Petitioner began at approximately 1:33 in the afternoon. App. 32, ll. 11-14. The State rested its case at approximately 2:25 p.m., and the case was sent to the jury for deliberations at 3:05 p.m. The jury returned a verdict of guilty as to both charges at 3:15 p.m. App. 69, ll. 17-25; App.84, l. 1-App. 85, l. 4. Judge McFaddin completed the sentencing sheets on both charges and sealed the sentences. App. 85, ll. 15-20.

On September 4, 2018, Petitioner was brought before the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran to have the sentences unsealed. App. 88. Petitioner appeared *pro se*, and the court at no point questioned whether Petitioner wanted counsel appointed for the sentencing hearing. App. 88-92. Petitioner was sentenced to concurrent terms of twenty years imprisonment on the domestic violence high and aggravated charge and fifteen years imprisonment on the burglary second degree charge. The sentencing court did not advise Petitioner of his right to counsel during sentencing or to his right to appeal his convictions and sentences. App. 92, ll. 12-19.

Petitioner's convictions and sentences were not appealed. Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief dated March 13, 2019, alleging,

1. "Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to file a direct appeal pursuant to *White vs. State*, 263 S.C. 1 10."
2. "Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to object to and/or challenge defendant being tried and/or sentenced in absentia."
3. "Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to challenge the indictment in relation to count one in the indictment on the grounds of lack of jurisdiction and/or improper change of venue."
4. "Defendant was denied his Sixth Amendment right to be present at trial and/or sentencing and face accuser."
5. "The trial court abused its discretion[sic] and/or committed reversible error when trying (holding the trial) and/or sentencing defendant in absentia without giving defendant proper notice of hearing date 7-10-18 which was seal [sic] sentence."

6. "Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to notice defendant of waiver of preliminary hearing and future preliminary hearings requested by defendant."
7. "Defendant was denied due process to [sic] fair opportunity of defense."
8. "Defendant didn't have knowledge of being impeach[sic] by convictions to oppose and having fair opportunity to contest the use of such evidence."
9. "Defendant didn't have knowledge of plea offer by solicitor Paul M. Fata for 5 years non-violent unto[sic] after sentenced in absentia and placed in department of corrections."
10. "Defendant didn't have counsel upon the opening and reading of seal [sic] sentencing on date 9-4-18 to represent him and request appeal or/and reconsideration on sentencing on defendant[sic] behalf as well as disposition sentencing sheet for date 7-10-18 shows no proof of defendant or attorney for defendant was present for this hearing dated 7-10-18 which defendant was sentence[sic] in absentia."

App. 98-109; App. 172-173. The State filed a return and partial motion to dismiss dated July 18, 2019. App. 110-120. No amended PCR application was ever filed. An evidentiary hearing was convened before the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein via WebEx on November 17, 2021. Petitioner was represented by Timothy Griffin. The State was represented by Lillian Meadows. App. 121; App 127, ll. 1-15.

At the hearing, Petitioner's sister, Nyeisha Miller, testified that she knew something was not right with Petitioner during the time his charges were pending because he was always wearing the same clothes. Petitioner would stay with her some nights but was always gone in the morning, and she did not know where he went. She testified that she let Petitioner stay with her on occasion and that she did not think he had a place of his own during that time. App. 128, l. 1- App. 129, l. 13.

Petitioner testified that he had been living with his co-defendant but had to move out and subsequently did not have a place to stay. He stayed with various people but did not have a permanent address where he could have his mail forwarded. He also stated that his phone was in

his co-defendant's name and was disconnected after he moved out. Petitioner testified that if he had he known of his court date he would have appeared, just as he had appeared at every roll call date until April 2018. App. 132, l. 4-App. 133, l. 9.

Petitioner testified that he only met with Counsel Etheridge once, when he initially hired him, and that he was never provided with a copy of his discovery while the charges were pending. App. 133, ll. 12-23. Petitioner stated that he understood that "in a bond they do actually say stuff about if you miss court things going to happen," but that he did not know that language was in there at the time his charges were pending. Petitioner also stated that he did not understand how someone could waive his rights and that there could be a trial in which he was not represented by anyone at all. App. 135, ll. 5-20.

On cross-examination, Petitioner testified that he never discussed the incident or evidence with Counsel Etheridge. They only ever discussed the basics of the charges and the fee arrangement. App. 136, l. 23-App. 137, l. 4. Petitioner stated he learned that he had been offered a five-year plea deal when he received his case file once he was in prison. He testified that he never received any letters or phone calls from Counsel Etheridge. Petitioner acknowledged that Counsel Etheridge had advised him that he could move to be relieved if Petitioner failed to keep in contact with him. Petitioner further stated that he could not provide Counsel Etheridge with updated contact information because he was moving from house to house every day. Petitioner stated that nine out of ten times he would plead to a charge. He acknowledged being told in prior cases that he could be tried in his absence if he did not appear in court but maintained that he would always appear when he knew of the court date. App. 137, l. 5-App.139, l. 24.

Former Solicitor Paul Fata testified that the plea offer he sent to Counsel Etheridge for Petitioner was to plead to burglary second non-violent and domestic violence high and aggravated with a cap of five years. App. 141, l. 12-App. 142, l. 16. Fata testified that Counsel Etheridge had been relieved as counsel and there was no one acting on behalf of Petitioner during the jury selection process or trial. App. 143, ll. 6-17. Fata testified he did not recall seeing Petitioner at roll calls but could only definitively say that Petitioner failed to appear at the June and July terms of court when his case was called to trial. App. 144, l. 8-App. 145, l. 7. Fata testified that the bond form which Petitioner signed directed him to appear at court on October 11, 2017, and that Petitioner was required to appear and remain throughout each subsequent term of court until his case was called. App. 147, ll. 4-14. Fata also testified that Counsel Etheridge never told the Solicitor's office that he had been unable to find Petitioner but only that they were not in contact with each other. App. 150, l. 23-App. 151, l. 8.

Counsel Etheridge testified that he met with Petitioner once in his office, and to his recollection they only had a preliminary discussion about the case. He stated that he received discovery from the State but was never able to share it with Petitioner. Counsel Etheridge did not recall if Petitioner appeared regularly at roll calls but testified that his notes only showed Petitioner being absent three times, two of which he believed were the dates where the case was called to trial. App. 153, l. 21-App. 154, l. 24. Counsel Etheridge confirmed he made numerous calls to two different phone numbers he had for Petitioner, but both numbers were disconnected. He stated his office followed up the phone calls with several letters, but the letters were sent back to his office marked "return to sender." App. 115, ll. 4-12.

Counsel Etheridge assumed that his office had reached out to the co-defendant and to Petitioner's bondsman to locate him, but he did not have anything in his notes showing he took

those actions. App. 155, l. 13-App.156, l. 15. Counsel Etheridge confirmed that he had received a plea offer for Petitioner. However, he was not able to give Petitioner his discovery or convey the plea offer or notify Petitioner of his trial date. Counsel Etheridge testified that, to his knowledge, Petitioner never received actual notice of his trial date. App. 157, ll. 1-12.

On cross-examination Counsel Etheridge confirmed that he attempted to relay the plea offer to Petitioner, but the letters were returned to his office and Petitioner's phone was disconnected. App. 159, l. 3-9. He testified he believed they tried to contact Petitioner through his family but were not able to get in touch with them either. App. 160, ll. 18-24. Counsel Etheridge stated he moved to be relieved because he had not had any conversations with Petitioner about the case and did not feel he could effectively represent him at trial. He confirmed he was not present during Petitioner's trial. App. 161, ll. 7-19.

At the conclusion of the hearing, the court requested proposed orders from both parties. The court informed the parties that one of its concerns was that a PCR was a collateral attack, and it felt that many of the issues raised were direct appeal issues. App. 163, l. 15-App. 164, l. 8. Additionally, during the testimony of Fata, the court stated that the question before the court was "what is it that Mr. Etheridge did that was ineffective representation of counsel" and that many of the issues raised were appropriate for direct appeal rather than post-conviction relief. App. 146, ll. 10-22.

An order of dismissal was filed on February 10, 2022. App. 166-184. The PCR court found that claims four, five, seven, eight, and nine were direct appeal issues that were not cognizable under the PCR Act and denied those claims. App. 173-174. As to claims one and ten, the court found them to be without merit because Counsel Etheridge had been relieved and did not represent Petitioner at the time his sentence was unsealed. Therefore, Counsel Etheridge

was not responsible for filing an appeal or motion to reconsider the sentences. App. 179-180. On claim two, the court found that Counsel Etheridge was not ineffective for failing to object or challenge Petitioner being tried *in absentia* because Counsel had been relieved based on Petitioner's behavior in failing to communicate with him. App. 180-181. Claim three was denied because no testimony was elicited at the hearing regarding the validity of the indictments, and the court found the indictments to be facially valid. App. 181. Finally, claim six was denied because there is no constitutional right to a preliminary hearing, and even if Counsel Etheridge was deficient in failing to notice Petitioner of the hearing, there could be no prejudice, as the charges were ultimately indicted by the grand jury. App. 182.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue raised on appeal. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180-181, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839–40 (2018). The reviewing court must defer to a PCR court’s findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. Id. (citing Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016)). However, the appellate court reviews questions of law de novo, with no deference to the PCR court. Id.

## ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in dismissing Petitioner's duly raised constitutional challenges to the validity of his convictions and sentences where Petitioner was tried *in absentia* and without counsel in violation of numerous federal and state constitutional rights and where the PCR Act plainly allows a collateral attack upon a conviction or sentence obtained in violation of the Constitution of the United States or the Constitution or laws of this State.

The PCR court found that Petitioner's claims that he was denied due process and that his constitutionally protected rights to be present at trial, to face his accuser, to be represented by counsel, and to present a defense were violated, were not cognizable claims under the PCR Act. Respectfully, the PCR Act allows for claims that a conviction or sentence was obtained in violation of the Constitution of the United States or the Constitutions and laws of our State. Petitioner was improperly tried *in absentia* and without counsel resulting in his convictions being obtained in violation of both the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution. The claims were properly brought under the PCR Act and should have been considered on the merits.

### **I. Petitioner Raised Cognizable Claims Under the PCR Act**

In response to a surge in federal habeas corpus claims, the United States Supreme Court opined in 1949 that the States were required to provide state prisoners with some "clearly defined method by which they may raise claims of denial of federal rights." Young v. Ragen, 337 U.S. 235, 238 (1949). Following Young, Illinois became the first state to enact a modern state post-conviction procedure when it adopted the Illinois Post-Conviction Hearing Act. John H. Blume & Emily C. Paavola, A Reintroduction: Survival Skills for Post-Conviction Practice in South Carolina, 4 Charleston L. Rev. 223, 227 (2010). Over the next fourteen years eleven other

states passed similar legislation creating post-conviction procedures which allowed inmates in state custody to raise claims of the denial of federally protected rights. Id. at 227-228.

In 1965 the United States Supreme Court granted certiorari in Case v. State of Nebraska to determine whether “the Fourteenth Amendment requires that the States afford state prisoners some adequate corrective process for *the hearing and determination of claims of violation of federal constitutional guarantees.*” Case v. State of Neb., 381 U.S. 336, 337 (1965) (emphasis added). During the pendency of the case the Nebraska State Legislature enacted a statute which provided a post-conviction procedure for hearing claims by inmates alleging the denial of federal constitutional rights. The passing of the statute obviated the Court’s need to answer the question. Id. However, in a concurring opinion Justice Brennan wrote that a state’s post-conviction procedure should

[B]e swift and simple and easily invoked. *It should be sufficiently comprehensive to embrace all federal constitutional claims...*it should eschew rigid and technical doctrines of forfeiture, waiver, or default. It should provide for full fact hearings to resolve disputed factual issues, and for compilation of a record to enable federal courts to determine the sufficiency of those hearings. It should provide for decisions supported by opinions, or fact findings and conclusions of law, which disclose the grounds of decision and the resolution of disputed facts.

Id. at 346-47 (Brennan, J., concurring) (emphasis added).

South Carolina adopted the Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act (the Act) in 1969. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 17-27-10 to -160. Pursuant to the Act, any person who has been convicted of, or sentenced for, a crime and who claims:

- (1) *That the conviction or the sentence was in violation of the Constitution of the United States or the Constitution or laws of this State;*
- (2) That the court was without jurisdiction to impose sentence;
- (3) That the sentence exceeds the maximum authorized by law;

(4) That there exists evidence of material facts, not previously presented and heard, that requires vacation of the conviction or sentence in the interest of justice;

(5) That his sentence has expired, his probation, parole or conditional release unlawfully revoked, or he is otherwise unlawfully held in custody or other restraint; or

(6) That the conviction or sentence is otherwise subject to collateral attack upon any ground of alleged error heretofore available under any common law, statutory or other writ, motion, petition, proceeding or remedy; *may institute, without paying a filing fee, a proceeding under this chapter to secure relief.* Provided, however, that this section shall not be construed to permit collateral attack on the ground that the evidence was insufficient to support a conviction.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-20<sup>2</sup> (emphasis added).

“In a PCR proceeding, a defendant collaterally attacks his conviction and *may raise any claims of constitutional violations relating to his conviction.*” Williams v. Ozmint, 380 S.C. 473, 477, 671 S.E.2d 600, 601 (2008) (emphasis added). While PCR actions are often framed as claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment, a petitioner can allege the denial of any federal constitutional right in a PCR action, except to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence. See Finklea v. State,<sup>3</sup> 273 S.C. 157, 158, 255 S.E.2d 447, 447-48 (1979). (“Our Post-Conviction Procedure Act is designed to incorporate all rights available under federal

---

<sup>2</sup> The South Carolina Code contains a scrivener's error in the publication of subsection 17-27-20(A). In the text of Section 1 of the original 1969 Uniform Post-Conviction Relief Procedure Act—which became section 17-27-20 in the 1976 Code—subsection (A)(6) ends with the language “... available under any common law, statutory or other writ, motion, petition, proceeding or remedy;” followed by a line break, with the language “may institute ... a proceeding under this chapter to secure relief” on the next line, in the body of subsection (A). See Act No. 164, 1969 S.C. Acts 158-59. The Code Commissioner made the error in the 1970 Code supplement, in which the Act was first published as part of our Code. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-601 (Supp. 1970). Thus, the language “*may institute ... a proceeding*” applies to all six subsections of subsection 17-27-20(A). Brown v. State, 423 S.C. 56, 60, 814 S.E.2d 146, 146-147, n.2 (emphasis added).

<sup>3</sup> Implied overruling on other grounds recognized by Brown v. State, 423 S.C. 56, 814 S.E.2d 146 (2018).

habeas corpus” citing Harvey v. South Carolina,<sup>4</sup> 310 F.Supp. 83 (D.S.C.1970)). The Act also “recognizes almost any abridgment of a state created right.” John H. Blume & Emily C. Paavola, A Reintroduction: Survival Skills for Post-Conviction Practice in South Carolina, 4 Charleston L. Rev. 223, 236 (2010).

In Fortune v. State, 428 S.C. 545, 837 S.E.2d 37 (2019) our Supreme Court addressed one such instance where PCR was the proper avenue to raise a constitutional challenge to a conviction. Fortune was charged with murder in the shooting death of Anthony Shields. Fortune proceeded to a jury trial during which he maintained that Shields fired the first shot and he only responded in self-defense. Id. at 547-548, 837 S.E.2d at 38-39. During the closing arguments, the assistance solicitor made numerous improper comments which were objected to by defense counsel and addressed by the judge. Id. at 550-551, 837 S.E.2d at 40. Fortune was ultimately found guilty, and his convictions were upheld on direct appeal. Id. at 548-549, 837 S.E.2d at 39. Fortune filed a PCR application alleging ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to request a curative instruction and for failing to move for a mistrial after the assistant solicitor’s statements in closing arguments. He also claimed that the solicitor’s misconduct violated his right to due process and his right to counsel. The PCR court ultimately denied Fortune’s PCR application finding that while the solicitor’s comments were improper, they were not so prejudicial as to deprive Fortune of a fair trial. Id. at 549, 837 S.E.2d at 30.

Fortune appealed the denial of his PCR application. One of the arguments that the State made on appeal was that Fortune’s claim was not properly couched as one of ineffective

---

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