RECEIVED

Jul 29 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEE COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000176

JOHNNY HAGGINS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The PCR court correctly dismissed allegations challenging Haggins's trial in absentia without counsel when these issues could have been raised on direct appeal.

In this PCR action, Haggins challenges the trial court's decision to allow him to be tried in his absence and without counsel. However, these claims could and should have been raised on direct appeal as they allege trial court error. PCR does not serve as a substitute for direct appeal. This Court should affirm.

A. Issue preservation.

Haggins's claim that he was denied the right to counsel at trial is not preserved for review. In its order of dismissal, the PCR court found "[t]o the extent Applicant claims he was denied his right to counsel," he failed to present evidence to support the allegation. App. p. 180. Haggins failed to even allege in his application that he was denied the right to counsel during trial; he alleged only that he was denied the right to counsel at sentencing. App. p. 173. Haggins never moved to supplement his application, and confirmed at the evidentiary hearing he was not presenting any new allegations. App. p. 125. Accordingly, this issue is not preserved for review because it was not raised below.

B. Even if preserved, Haggins's claims regarding trial in absentia and the right to counsel are direct appeal claims not cognizable in PCR.

Petitioner alleges the PCR court erred in dismissing five claims in the PCR application as direct appeal issues. Petitioner contends an applicant may raise any constitutional issues in a PCR application. Petitioner reaches this conclusion by reading only half the statute, paragraph A of S.C. Code§ 17-27-20, but Petitioner

ignores paragraph B and well-established case law that holds PCR is not a substitute for a direct appeal.

Petitioner retained Counsel and met with Counsel once. However, the phone number he provided was disconnected and the letters Counsel sent to the address he provided were returned. Petitioner admits he moved out of his girlfriend's residence and his phone was cut off. However, Petitioner made no effort to provide Counsel new contact information. App. pp. 154-57. Petitioner was tried in his absence. Petitioner admitted that he had previous convictions and through his experience, he knew he could be tried in his absence. App. p. 139, lines 11-24.

Five of petitioner's claims in his PCR application were dismissed by the PCR court: (4) Petitioner was denied the right to be present at trial and/or sentencing; (5) the trial court erred in sentencing Petitioner in absentia when he did not have notice of his sentencing date; (7) Petitioner was denied a fair opportunity to present a defense; (8) Petitioner did not know he could be impeached with prior convictions; and (9) Petitioner did not have knowledge of a plea offer by the prosecutor. These issues were not framed as questions of ineffective assistance of counsel. Of course, for the last allegation, the reason Petitioner did not know about the prosecution's plea offer was because he did not provide his counsel any reliable contact information so counsel could not relay the offer. App. p. 157.

An applicant may seek PCR upon the following types of allegations:

1. That the conviction or the sentence was in violation of the Constitution of the United States or the Constitution or laws of this State;
2. That the court was without jurisdiction to impose sentence;

3. That the sentence exceeds the maximum authorized by law;
4. That there exists evidence of material facts, not previously presented and heard, that requires vacation of the conviction or sentence in the interest of justice;
5. That his sentence has expired, his probation, parole or conditional release unlawfully revoked, or he is otherwise unlawfully held in custody or other restraint; or
6. That the conviction or sentence is otherwise subject to collateral attack upon any ground of alleged error heretofore available under any common law, statutory or other writ, motion, petition, proceeding or remedy[.]

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-20(A).

However, paragraph A is modified by section 17-27-20 (B):

This remedy is not a substitute for nor does it affect any remedy incident to the proceedings in the trial court, or of direct review of the sentence or conviction. Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, it comprehends and takes the place of all other common law, statutory or other remedies heretofore available for challenging the validity of the conviction or sentence. It shall be used exclusively in place of them.

Accordingly, free-standing claims of trial court error are not cognizable claims for post-conviction relief, and this prohibition has long been recognized. Roscoe v. State, 345 S.C. 16, 20, 546 S.E.2d 417, 419 (2001) (noting that allegations of trial court error are not cognizable on PCR); Simmons v. State, 264 S.C. 417, 423, 215 S.E.2d 883, 885 (1975) (finding that alleged trial errors and sufficiency of evidence are direct appeal issues that are not cognizable PCR claims); Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 8,430 S.E.2d 517,520 (1993) ("The Simmons rule gives effect to the Legislature's clear intent that the post-conviction relief procedure is not a substitute for appeal or a place for asserting errors for the first time which could have been reviewed on direct appeal."); Stepney v. State, 278 S.C. 47,292 S.E.2d 41 (1982) (explaining that issues that could have been raised on direct appeal cannot

be considered on PCR application absent claims of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel).

Therefore, contrary to Petitioner's reading of the statute, a PCR applicant is not able to raise any constitutional issue in an application. An applicant "may allege constitutional violations in PCR proceedings ... unless the issue could have been raised by direct appeal." Gibson v. State, 329 S.C. 37, 41,495 S.E.2d 426,428 (1998) (citing S.C. Code§ 17-27-20) (emphasis added); Simmons, 64 S.C. at 423,215 S.E.2d at 885 ("Generally, post-conviction hearing statutes do not afford relief in the case of alleged errors for which remedies were available before and during the original trial, or by review on motion for a new trial or on appeal. These statutes were not intended to afford a procedure to operate as a substitute for a motion for a new trial, or for an appeal or writ of error; and ordinarily a judgment of conviction may not be challenged on grounds which could have been raised by a direct appeal."); Hyman v. State, 278 S.C. 501,502,299 S.E.2d 330,331 (1983) ("The appellant argues also that sentencing for both crimes violated the prohibition on double jeopardy. She made no objection on this point at trial and may present it now only to support a claim of ineffective representation, not as a separate ground for relief." (citation omitted)).

Petitioner relies on several cases to support his argument, but they are distinguishable. Brown v. State, 423 S.C. 56, 925 S.E.2d 146 (2018), merely holds someone convicted of a crime has standing to file a PCR application regardless of their custody status. It has no applicability, especially in light of the specific authority above which Petitioner has avoided in his brief. Jones v. State, 440 S.C.

14, 889 S.E.2d 590 (2023), concerned a challenge to the constitutionality of a statute raised in PCR after a guilty plea. The supreme court addressed the claim, explaining Jones could not raise the claim in direct appeal because conditional guilty pleas are not allowed. Id. at 24, 889 S.E. 2d at 595. Finally, in Fortune v. State, 428 S.C. 545, 837 S.E.2d 37 (2019), the supreme court addressed a Due Process claim based on a solicitor’s egregiously improper closing argument. The court did not overrule its extensive precedent explaining PCR is not a substitute for direct appeal. Rather, the court explained that “this is one of those cases” where PCR review of a direct appeal issue should be allowed, and noted the claim was intertwined with a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Id. at 559, 837 S.E.2d at 44. To the extent these cases support Haggins’s argument that his direct appeal claims are cognizable in PCR, they should be seen as outliers.

In this case, the claims referenced, 4-5 and 7-9, were all issues that could have been raised as direct appeal issues and the PCR court correctly found they were not proper for PCR. In particular, his claim regarding his right to be present at trial alleges the “trial court abused its discretion [sic] and/ or committed reversible error when trying . . . and/or sentencing defendant in absentia without giving defendant proper notice of hearing date” App. p. 172. Thus Haggins expressly alleged trial court error. As discussed above, Haggins failed to even raise the claim that he was wrongly denied counsel at trial. His claim that he was wrongly denied counsel at his sentencing alleges trial error. The PCR court did not err in dismissing the claims.

The only claim presented below that arguably raises an allegation cognizable in PCR is allegation #9, which alleges “Defendant didn’t have knowledge of plea offer by solicitor Paul M. Fata for 5 years non-violent [until] after sentenced in absentia and placed in department of corrections.” App. p. 171. However, Haggins does not make any argument regarding this allegation in his brief, and thus the issue is waived.

Even if preserved, the allegation is without merit. At the evidentiary hearing, PCR counsel elicited testimony regarding the fact that Haggins was never made aware of a plea offer made by the solicitor to defense counsel. However, neither Haggins nor PCR counsel ever explicitly argued counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to relay the plea offer. This is likely because all the testimony showed counsel never had an opportunity to relay the offer because Haggins failed to maintain contact with him. Counsel and Haggins testified they only met once and did not discuss the facts of the case. Haggins testified he never saw discovery until after he was incarcerated. Accordingly, even if Haggins’s allegation can be read as raising a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, he produced no evidence to support the allegation. Accordingly, the claim is without merit. However, because Haggins did not explicitly allege ineffective assistance of counsel, and because PCR counsel did not file a motion to alter or amend the order, this court should not interpret the claim as alleging ineffective assistance.

C. If this court determines Haggins’s claims are cognizable, it should remand the case.

Should this Court determine Haggins's claims are cognizable in PCR, it should remand the case to the circuit court to consider those issues. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-80 ("The court shall make specific findings of fact, and state expressly its conclusions of law, relating to each issue presented."). While this Court can affirm for any reason, it should not grant Haggins a new trial without his allegations first being addressed by the PCR Court.


CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed. In the alternative, the case should be remanded for findings of fact and conclusions of law on Haggins's claims.